I. INTRODUCTION AND SUMMARY 

The Court should accept review in this case because the Court of 

Appeals, in a published opinion, declined to extend "full faith and credit" 

to valid Idaho court orders. An Idaho court appointed a conservator for 

Bill McKee, and the conservator borrowed money to save McKee's 

property from a pending foreclosure. Afterward, Maureen Erickson 

(McKee's daughter) launched a collateral attack on those orders. But 

Erickson "read and approved" the order authorizing the loan, and Erickson 

still resides at the property that the conservator saved from foreclosure. 

Although the Superior Court rejected Erickson's belated arguments 

and entered summary judgment for One West, the Court of Appeals 

reversed. In a published opinion, the Court of Appeals declined to extend 

full faith and credit to the Idaho court orders. In doing so, the Court of 

Appeals failed to address this Court's most recent discussion of the full 

faith and credit clause of the U.S. Constitution. This Court should accept 

review so that it can reverse the Court of Appeals and reinstate the 

Superior Court's original judgment. 

II. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER 

One West Bank N.A. asks this Court to accept review ofthe Court 

of Appeals decision terminating review designated in Section II of this 

petition. 

III. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION 

This Court should review the decision of the Court of Appeals 

dated November 13, 2014, and the order of the Court of Appeals dated 

1 
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January 8, 2015 denying One West's motion for reconsideration of that 

decision. A copy of the decision is in the Appendix at pages A-1 through 

29. A copy of the order denying One West's motion for reconsideration is 

in the Appendix at pages A-30 through 31. 

IV. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

1. Is a Washington court required by the U.S. Constitution, 

and by this Court's decision in In re Kowalewski, 163 Wn.2d 542 (2008), 

to extend full faith and credit to an Idaho court's orders authorizing a 

conservator to execute a deed of trust for property in Washington? 

2. If a Washington court deems it proper to deny full faith and 

credit to an Idaho court's interpretation ofldaho law, does Idaho law 

authorize an Idaho court to appoint a conservator with the power to 

exercise control over property in Washington? 

3. Is a deed of trust for property in Washington considered 

void just because that deed oftrust was signed by a conservator appointed 

by an Idaho court under Idaho law? 

4. Is it proper for a Washington court to void a deed oftrust, 

to the detriment of the beneficiary, when the beneficiary reasonably relied 

on an Idaho court order authorizing the deed of trust, and that order was 

signed by the person who would later challenge the deed of trust? 

5. Should the beneficiary of a deed of trust that is deemed 

void for the first time on appeal be given the opportunity to assert 

equitable defenses, including subrogation and estoppel, on remand to the 

Superior Court? 
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V. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

In August 2007, an Idaho court appointed a conservator to manage 

the assets and affairs of Bill McKee. (CP 18-22.) McKee was over 90 

years old, had recently endured open-heart surgery, was extremely hard of 

hearing, and occasionally had difficulties with his eyesight. (CP 130 ~ 22.) 

His daughter nevertheless argues he was competent (id. ), but before the 

end of his life in early 2011, he suffered years of dementia (CP 158). 

The conservatorship estate included property in Spokane, 

Washington (CP 20), which McKee purchased in 2001 (CP 66 ~ 2). The 

property was encumbered by a deed of trust securing McKee's obligation 

to repay the loan used to purchase the property. (CP 125 ~~ 7-8.) 

By late September 2007, the property faced foreclosure because 

McKee was not making his loan payments. (CP 166.) To stop the 

foreclosure and preserve the property, McKee's conservator, Shelley 

Bruna, took out a new loan secured by a new deed of trust on the property. 

(CP 166.) Part of the proceeds ofthe new loan were used to pay off the old 

loan, thereby saving the property from foreclosure. (CP 167.) Because the 

transaction was in the form of a "reverse mortgage," McKee received the 

benefit of the full amount of the loan, and was not required to make any 

payments before he died. (CP 33 ~ 3, 34 ~ 7.) 

In executing these documents, the conservator was acting with the 

approval of the Idaho court. Conservators under Idaho law have the 

inherent authority to manage property. Idaho Code§ 15-5-424(3). The 
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Idaho court also entered an order on October 22, 2007, specifically 

authorizing Bruna to "facilitate a reverse mortgage." (CP 1 09.) 

McKee's daughter, Maureen Erickson, actively participated in the 

Idaho conservatorship proceedings. Erickson "read and approved" the 

order authorizing the conservator to enter into the reverse mortgage after 

participating in the hearing by telephone. (CP 108-11 0.) The order even 

bears Maureen Erickson's signature (CP 111 ), although she now claims 

not to remember signing the order ( CP 131: 1-3 ). 

McKee died on March 12, 2011, at age 94. (CP 158.) The death 

certificate says that he suffered "dementia" spanning "years." (CP 158.) 

As a result of his death, the promissory note secured by the deed of trust 

fell due in full. (CP 30 at~ 7.) One West, as the holder of the original 

promissory note and successor in interest to the original lender, began the 

foreclosure necessary to satisfy the note's obligation. (CP 190-235.) 

Erickson, who was living at the property, challenged the 

foreclosure. On December 8, 2011, she recorded a quitclaim deed in her 

favor that was signed-but not recorded-by McKee on June 28, 2007. 

(CP 70.) On that basis, she alleged that she, not McKee, owned the 

property. (CP 54 at~ 6.) Erickson also complained that the Idaho court 

could not have acted as it did because McKee was living with her in 

Washington. (CP 66 ~ 2.) For those reasons, Erickson alleged that the 

conservator should not have entered into a reverse mortgage transaction, 
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despite the language in the Idaho court's order reflecting Erickson's 

approval. (CP 59-60.) 

One West filed a complaint in Spokane County Superior Court to 

foreclose on the property. (CP 194-235.) After a series of hearings, the 

Superior Court granted summary judgment in favor of One West, 

authorizing One West to proceed with the foreclosure. (CP 188-89.) 

Erickson appealed. The Court of Appeals concluded that under the 

U.S. Constitution, it was not required to give "full faith and credit" to the 

orders entered by the Idaho court. The Court of Appeals cited a series of 

decisions-including several from the early twentieth century-to support 

its conclusion that it could effectively review the Idaho court's orders. 

Furthermore, the Court of Appeals held that the Idaho court wrongly 

interpreted Idaho law. The Court of Appeals reversed the Superior Court's 

order granting summary judgment. 

The Court of Appeals went further. Although Maureen Erickson 

had not filed a motion for summary judgment, the Court of Appeals 

concluded that if she had brought such a motion, it would have been 

successful. Consequently, the Court of Appeals declared the deed of trust 

in favor of One West to be void. 

One West filed a motion for reconsideration. One West pointed out 

that the Court of Appeals had not discussed Kowalewski, a Washington 

Supreme Court case that addressed the duty of courts to extend full faith 

and credit to the decisions of other courts. One West also observed that 
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even if the Court of Appeals had correctly interpreted the U.S. 

Constitution and applicable Washington law, the Court of Appeals should 

nevertheless remand the case to allow One West to develop its equitable 

defenses, among them equitable subrogation and estoppel. In a two

sentence order, the Court of Appeals denied One West's motion for 

reconsideration, prompting this petition for review. 

VI. ARGUMENT WHY THE COURT 
SHOULD ACCEPT REVIEW 

The Court of Appeals erred when it reversed the Superior Court's 

order granting summary judgment for One West. The Court of Appeals' 

decision is irreconcilable with prior decisions of this Court. The Court of 

Appeals' decision is also contrary to the U.S. Constitution and strong 

Washington public policies favoring the enforcement of out-of-state 

conservatorship decrees. This Court should accept review for the 

following reason: 

First, the Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with this Court's 

decision in Kowalewski, which stands for the proposition that courts must 

give full faith and credit to the orders of other courts, even if those orders 

have some effect on interests in property in another jurisdiction. 

Second, the Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with strong 

Washington public policy favoring the enforcement of out-of-state 

guardianship and conservatorship decrees. 
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A. Under the U.S. Constitution and Binding Washington 
Supreme Court Precedent, the Court of Appeals Should 
Have Extended Full Faith and Credit to the Idaho 
Court Orders. 

The Court of Appeals should have extended full faith and credit to 

the Idaho court's conservatorship decrees in accordance with Kowalewski, 

a decision of this Court applying the U.S. Constitution. Under 

RAP 13 .4(b ), this Court will accept a petition for review if the decision of 

the Court of Appeals conflicts with a decision of this Court, or if it 

involves a significant question oflaw under the U.S. Constitution. This 

case satisfies both criteria. 

The U.S. Constitution requires the courts of each state to extend 

"full faith and credit" to the decisions of courts in other states. U.S. Const. 

art. 4, § 1. The Court of Appeals in this case acknowledged that obligation, 

but held the Idaho court's orders were not entitled to full faith and credit. 

The Court of Appeals invoked the principle that "every state or nation 

possesses an exclusive sovereignty and jurisdiction within its own 

territory," meaning that "a court of one state cannot administer or affect 

title to real property sited in another state." (A-20.) The Court of Appeals 

cited Fall v. Eastin, 215 U.S. 1 (1909), for the proposition that "[d]ecrees 

of one state affecting interests in land of another state are not accorded full 

faith and credit under the United States Constitution." (A-21.) 

In so holding, the Court of Appeals did not address this Court's 

most recent pronouncement on these issues. In In re Kowalewski, 163 

Wn.2d 542, 548--49 (2008), this Court acknowledged that courts in one 
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jurisdiction may not directly transfer title to property located in another 

jurisdiction. The Court went on to explain, however, that there is a 

"distinction between jurisdiction to adjudicate title to land and jurisdiction 

to settle the parties' personal interests in real estate." !d. at 548--49. In 

Kowalewski, this meant that although a Washington court could not 

directly transfer title to property in Poland, it could enter a dissolution 

decree that "determines the parties' beneficial interests in the Polish 

properties." !d. at 552. 

This Court also drew different conclusions about the cases and 

doctrines that the Court of Appeals relied on below. Fall v. Eastin itself 

recognizes that: 

A court of equity, having authority to act upon the person, 
may indirectly act on real estate in another State, through 
the instrumentality of this authority over the person. 
Whatever it may do through the party, it may do to give 
effect to its decree respecting property, whether it goes to 
the entire disposition of it or only to effect it with liens or 
burdens. 

Fall, 215 U.S. at 8 (emphasis added). Likewise, when this Court cited 

Brown v. Brown, 46 Wn.2d 370, 371 (1955), it did so to show that courts 

could "affect legal title indirectly" by, for example, directing a person to 

"convey or release any interest in the Washington land." 163 Wn.2d at 

547. This Court even chided one of the parties in Kowalewski for failing to 

"recognize the distinction between jurisdiction to adjudicate personal 

interests in real property, which is a transitory action, and jurisdiction to 
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adjudicate legal title to real property, which is a local action that must be 

brought in the situs state." /d. at 547. 

The Court of Appeals in this case did not mention Kowalewski. 

Although the Court of Appeals did discuss Fall and Brown, it omitted any 

reference to the parts of those opinions that this Court deemed significant 

in Kowalewski. In its motion for reconsideration, One West asked the Court 

of Appeals to revisit its opinion in light of Kowalewski and because the 

parties had not had an opportunity to brief the issues the court found 

dispositive. The Court of Appeals declined. 

The Court of Appeals' omission is important because none of the 

Idaho court's orders purported to directly transfer title to the Washington 

property, as the Court of Appeals incorrectly held. The Idaho court issued 

two directives that are relevant here. 

First, it appointed a conservator for McKee. (CP 18, 99.) Under 

Idaho's conservatorship statute, upon her appointment the conservator had 

the inherent power to manage, encumber, or sell estate assets, "including 

land in another state." Idaho Code§ 15-5-424(g). 

Second, the Idaho court entered an order specifically authorizing 

the conservator to enter into the reverse mortgage transaction and to 

encumber the property with a deed of trust. (CP 108-09.) Erickson "read 

and approved" that order (CP 111 ), although she now claims not to 

remember doing so (CP 131 :1-3). 
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Neither order purported to directly transfer title to Washington 

property. Acting with the authorization of the Idaho court (and Erickson's 

approval), the conservator granted only a deed of trust-a lien--on the 

property, but did not transfer title. (CP 36-47.) Washington is a lien theory 

state, meaning that a deed of trust, like the one executed here, is not a 

means for conveying title to property. See Kezner v. Landover Corp., 87 

Wn. App. 458, 463-54 (1997). 

Having concluded it owed no deference to the Idaho court, the 

Court of Appeals independently interpreted Idaho law to decide whether 

the conservator had the authority to act as she did. In a similar case, 

Justice Holmes cautioned "[i]t is a strong thing for another tribunal to say 

that the local court did not know its own business under its own laws." 

Mich. Trust Co. v. Ferry, 228 U.S. 346, 352-54 (1913) (reversing Utah 

court for failing to extend full faith and credit to Michigan probate orders). 

Here, the Court of Appeals effectively reversed the Idaho court and 

invalidated One West's lien, even though Idaho law specifically authorizes 

conservators to encumber "land in another state" (Idaho Code§ 15-5-

424(g)), and also says third parties, such as One West, are protected from 

unauthorized exercises of a conservator's power, Idaho Code§ 15-5-423. 

Nor was there any genuine basis to dispute the Idaho court's 

jurisdiction to appoint a conservator. "A party attacking a foreign 

judgment has the burden of establishing lack of jurisdiction." In re 

Parentage ofF, 178 Wn. App. 1, 7-8 (2013). But the Idaho court's order 
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authorizing the conservator to sign a deed of trust was executed by 

Erickson herself (CP 111.) The order recites that she read and approved it 

after appearing at the hearing by telephone. ( CP 108, 111.) And McKee 

was a party to the case who appeared through counsel. ( CP 11 0.) 

Accordingly, each was subject to the jurisdiction of the Idaho court. See 

Ins. Corp. of Ireland, Ltd. v. Compagnie des Bauxites de Guinee, 456 U.S. 

694, 706-07 (1982). 

B. Strong Washington Public Policies Favor Enforcement 
of Idaho's Conservatorship Orders. 

The Court of Appeals' decree is inconsistent with Washington's 

strong public policy in favor of recognizing out-of-state conservatorship 

decrees. Washington Rule of Appellate Procedure 13 .4(b) provides that 

this Court will accept review if the petition involves "an issue of 

substantial public interest." This case qualifies because the public has an 

interest in avoiding the proliferation of separate conservatorships in every 

state where a ward might happen to have property-which will be the 

result under the Court of Appeals' decision. 

The Court of Appeals' decision also conflicts with Washington 

law-now embodied in statute-favoring the recognition of out-of-state 

conservatorship orders. Like Idaho, Washington has enacted the Uniform 

Adult Guardianship and Protective Proceedings Jurisdiction Act 

(UAGPPJA). See RCW 11.90. The UAGPPJA was endorsed by the 

National Academy of Elder Law Attorneys, the National Guardianship 

Foundation, the National College of Probate Judges, the Alzheimer's 
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Association, and the Conference of Chief Justices and Conference of State 

Court Administrators. See www.uniformlaws.org. It has been enacted in 

almost all 50 states. As part of the act, the Washington legislature 

proclaimed that "[ c ]onsideration must be given to the need to promote 

uniformity of the law with respect to its subject matter among states that 

enact it." RCW 11.90.450. 

Under the UAGPPJA, Washington courts must recognize and 

enforce out-of-state guardianship orders once they are registered in 

Washington state. RCW 11.90.440. Registration is a simple administrative 

step that does not involve any Washington court passing judgment on the 

propriety of the original order. See RCW 11.90.420. The law was not 

enacted by Washington's legislature until2009 (after the conservatorship 

at issue here), but it is nevertheless reflects that there is and should be no 

per-se rule prohibiting Washington courts from recognizing out-of-state 

conservatorship decrees. 

The Court of Appeals' decision in this case is not only out-of-step 

with Washington public policy favoring the recognition of out-of-state 

conservatorship decrees. It is also inconsistent with other states' treatment 

of decrees issued by Washington courts. For example, in 1974, the Oregon 

Supreme Court enforced a Washington court's order concerning land in 

the state of Oregon. It did so based on the same distinction between 

transitory and in rem actions recognized by this Court in Kowalewski. 

Washington courts "recognize a distinction between the jurisdiction of its 
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courts to pass judgment on the title to land in another state and jurisdiction 

over a transitory action or suit in personam" and held that "the law of 

Oregon, as established by the decisions of this Court, is substantially the 

same as the law of Washington on this question." Small v. Carey, 269 Or. 

35,37-38 (1974). This was and remains the law in Washington, 

notwithstanding the Court of Appeals' decision in this case to the contrary. 

Unless overturned, the Court of Appeals decision here might cause courts 

in neighboring states to stop extending full faith and credit to Washington 

decisions. 

And there are good policy reasons to extend full faith and credit to 

the Idaho court's appointment of a conservator. It prevents the 

multiplication of parallel proceedings. In complex conservatorships for 

wards with property in many states, limiting the conservator's power to a 

single state would require separate proceedings in each of those other 

states. This would dramatically drive up costs in conservatorships 

involving property across several states, increase transaction costs and 

court expense, and increase delay. 

The Court of Appeals decision also undermines strong public 

policies favoring the finality and reliability of court orders. Idaho Code 

Section 15-5-423 protects third parties (like One West) who rely to their 

detriment on the actions of conservators, even in "instances in which some 

procedural irregularity or jurisdictional defect occurred in proceedings 

leading to the issuance of letters." Here, a lender relied on a court order 
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that carried every indicia of validity, down to signature blocks manifesting 

Erickson's consent. No less than seven years later, that order has been 

deemed void by a court in another state after a collateral attack on the 

efficacy of that order (by the very person who manifested prior consent). 

Notably, the Idaho court orders were overruled at the behest of 

Erickson, who participated in the hearing on the order authorizing the 

reverse mortgage and who, according to the order itself, "read and 

approved" its terms. (CP 111.) Erickson also accepted and continues to 

accept the benefits of that reverse mortgage, which paid off a prior loan 

encumbering the property. (CP 166-68.) She is thus estopped from 

challenging the propriety of the Idaho court's orders. See Svatonsky v. 

Svatonsky, 63 Wn.2d 902, 904-05 (1964) ("A party who procures or gives 

consent to [an order] is estopped to question its validity where he has 

obtained a benefit therefrom."). 

Even if Erickson were not estopped, the Court of Appeals still 

should not have simply entered summary judgment for Erickson on its 

own initiative. One West is entitled to be subrogated to the prior lien-the 

one that was paid off when the conservator entered into the 2007 loan. 

"[I]n the context of mortgage refinancing, this court has generally 

permitted a lender to be subrogated to the position of a priority interest 

holder simply by paying off that priority interest holder's loan." Columbia 

Cmty. Bankv. Newman Park, LLC, 177 Wn.2d 566, 577 (2013). The Court 

of Appeals issued summary judgment for Erickson (which she had not 
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asked for) without allowing One West an opportunity to demonstrate its 

subrogation rights. In this respect, too, Erickson's action-and the Court 

of Appeals' decision blessing them-are contrary to Washington law and 

public policy. 

VII. CONCLUSION 

For the foregoing reasons, the Washington Supreme Court should 

accept review of the Court of Appeals' decision dated November 13, 2014, 

and the subsequent order dated January 8, 2015, denying OneWest's 

motion for reconsideration.