Received Washington State Supreme Court

FEB 2 7 2015

91283-1

Ronald R. Carpente Clerk

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

RE: PETITION FOR REVIEW OF THE DECISION OF THE COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION III

COURT OF APPEALS CASE NO. 31944-0

ONEWEST BANK, FSB,

Petitioner,

v.

MAUREEN M. ERICKSON,

Respondent.

Answer to OneWest Bank FSB's Petition for Review

Brian C. Balch, WSBA #12290 Layman Law Firm, PLLP 601 South Division Street Spokane, WA 99202-1335 (509) 455-8883 Telephone (509) 624-2902 Facsimile

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

IV. ARGUMENT

1. <u>Claimed conflict with Washington Supreme Court</u> <u>Decision</u>. OneWest claims that this Court should accept review because the court of appeals' decision conflicts with this Court's decision in *In Re Marriage of Kowalewski*, 163 Wn.2d 542, 182 P.3d 959 (2008). *Kowalewski* is entirely consistent with the Court of Appeals' decision. *Kowalewski* involved a divorce proceeding in which a Washington court had personal jurisdiction over both spouses in a dissolution proceeding and adjudicated their interests in Washington property as well as their equitable rights in connection with property in Poland. It did not purport to confer jurisdictional authority on a Washington court in connection with ownership of a non-resident's property in another country. Instead, this Court recognized in *Kowalewski* that, when a court in the jurisdiction where real property is located is asked to adjudicate a matter that would affect legal ownership of real property in that jurisdiction (such as the request to foreclose the deed of trust at issue in this case), it would be for the court in that jurisdiction to determine whether it would give force or effect to the Washington court's order. *Id.* at 552-53. The Court concluded that a foreign jurisdiction would not be "bound by a Washington court's decree . . ." (Citation omitted.) *Id.* at 552.

OneWest's argument in the Court of Appeals concerning the purported validity of the Idaho court orders was set out at pages 24 and 25 of OneWest's appellate brief (attached hereto as Appendix I). OneWest did not argue that the Court of Appeals should refrain from reviewing the Idaho law it cited or from examining the validity of the Idaho court order at issue, as authorized by legal authority OneWest presented. OneWest essentially asked the Court of Appeals to review and analyze the applicability of the statues and cases upon which it relied. OneWest did cite or rely on *Kowalewsk*i. Instead, OneWest cited three cases in this portion of its argument. Those cases do not support OneWest's position.

Stewart v. Stewart, 85 Wash. 202, 206, 147 P. 1157 (1915) held that a Washington court has jurisdiction to determine issues affecting ownership of Washington property (even if the claimed owner was the estate of a person who had resided outside Washington). That case supported the authority of the Court of Appeals in this state to assert jurisdiction over Washington property in connection with an action that would affect ownership of that property (such as a foreclosure action that would result in transferring legal title to that property).

Conservatorship of O'Connor, 48 Cal. App. 4th 1076, 56 Cal. Rptr. 2d 386 (1996), analyzed California statutes to determine whether a California court retained jurisdiction over a conservatorship matter following the ward's death. That case has no bearing whatever over the issues presented in this case.

Finally, OneWest cited Freise V. Walker, 27 Wn.App. 549, 553, 619 P.2d 366 (1980). In Freise, the Court of Appeals recognized that a Washington appellate court has authority to determine whether a trial

court had jurisdiction over parties to enter an order and, if not, to refuse to enforce it.

To the extent cases cited by OneWest on appeal apply to the issues presented, they support a conclusion that the Court of Appeals had authority to determine whether the Idaho court had jurisdiction to enter a decision affecting title to Washington property owned by Washington residents, and to refuse to give force or effect to the order if jurisdiction was found to be lacking. Neither those cases nor the cases cited by OneWest in its Petition support the conclusion that Erickson could not challenge the validity of an Idaho order affecting title to her Washington property, particularly since the action being pursued, if successful, would result in transferring legal title to her property. OneWest's claimed conflict with a decision of this Court does not exist.

2. <u>Claimed issue under the United States Constitution</u>. OneWest's second basis for claiming that this Court should accept review is a contention that a significant question of law under the Constitution is involved. RAP 13.4(b)(3). OneWest claims that the decision implicates the full faith and credit clause in Article IV, Section 1, of the United States Constitution. OneWest again relied primarily on *Kowalewski* for this assertion. However, in *Kowalewski*, this Court acknowledged that the full faith and credit clause was not at issue. *Id.* at 552, fn. 1. Further, *Kowalewski* recognized that an action to adjudicate or affect legal title to real property must be brought in the state where the real property is located. *Id.* at 547.

In its Petition, at page 8, OneWest also discussed *Brown v. Brown*, 46 Wn.2d 370, 371, 281 P.2d 850 (1955), claiming that the case showed "that courts *could* 'affect legal title indirectly' by, for example directing a person to 'convey or release any interest in the Washington land."" (punctuation and emphasis as in original). In fact, *Brown* held that a Washington court has authority to reject a California court's order purporting to affect title to Washington property based on the foreign court's lack of jurisdiction over issues affecting title to Washington real property. This Court determined that such action is consistent with the full faith and credit provisions in the United States Constitution. *Id.* at 371-72. OneWest misstated the holding and analysis in that case.

As OneWest also acknowledged in its Petition for Review at page 7, the Court of Appeals recognized that the United States Supreme Court has determined that "[d]ecrees of one state affecting interests in land in another state are not afforded full faith and credit under the United States Constitution," citing *Fall v. Eastin*, 215 U.S. 1, 30 S.Ct. 3, 54 L.Ed. 65 (1909). (One West's Appendix A, at 21). OneWest did not dispute this analysis apart from OneWest's incorrect assertion that it was inconsistent with *Kowalewski*.

In the final analysis, OneWest presented Idaho statutory authority and case law in the Court of Appeals that essentially asked the Court of Appeals to review Idaho law and the validity of the order appointing the Idaho receiver, Shelley Bruna. OneWest argued in the Court of Appeals that, based on the Idaho statutes it cited, the order appointing Bruna as conservator vested her with authority "to encumber property in Washington . . . without any further court order." (Appendix I, at 25). OneWest did not mention or rely on the purported court order regarding execution of a reverse exchange upon which it now relies. Based on all authority cited by OneWest and the argument it presented on appeal, the Court of Appeals' review of the Idaho Court's jurisdiction to enter its order was entirely appropriate and consistent with the United States Constitution.

3. <u>Claimed issue of substantial public interest</u>. Finally, OneWest contends that this Court should accept review because it involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined. RAP 13.4(b)(4). OneWest cited almost no case, inside or outside Washington, with analogous facts and OneWest has not contended this issue is likely to arise again. The situation in this case is not remotely analogous to that presented in *State v. Watson*, 155 Wn. 2d 574, 122 P.3d 903 (2005). In that case, this Court recognized that the decision of the Court of Appeals at issue had "the potential to affect every sentencing proceeding in Pierce County after November 26, 2001, where a DOSA sentence was or is at issue" and that it would have a potential to "chill policy actions taken by both attorneys and judges." *Id.* at 577. Since there is no claim or suggestion that the Court of Appeals' decision will have significant application and OneWest has made no other argument suggesting this case will have significant impact on anyone beyond the immediate parties, this case does not present an issue of substantial public interest.

Moreover, this is not an issue that this Court needs to decide. To the extent similar situations have been analyzed, existing decisions have already confirmed that the Court of Appeals had the authority to examine and determine whether the Idaho court decision affecting title to Washington property owned by Washington residents should be given force or effect. This would be particularly true in the context of a foreclosure action which, if successful would result in transferring legal title to the property. See, e.g., *Fall v. Eastin*, supra. (decrees of one state affecting interests in land in another state are not afforded full faith and credit under the United States Constitution); *Kowalewski*, supra; *Brown*, supra. In fact, OneWest's only disagreement with the Court of Appeals analysis regarding the right to review the jurisdiction of another state court in orders affecting title to real property in Washington was an incorrect assertion that the ruling conflicted with this Court's decision in *Kowalewski*. Again, as shown above, there was no such conflict.

4. <u>OneWest has raised new, inconsistent and inaccurate</u> arguments.

OneWest's Petition should also be rejected because the issues it has raised in its Petition were either not raised in the trial court or on appeal, are inconsistent with the positions OneWest took at either or both levels, and/or misrepresent the record. Washington recognizes that issues not raised in the trial court in connection with competing requests for summary judgment should not be considered on appeal at any level. RAP 9.12. In a motion for reconsideration, Washington appellate rules direct a requesting party to direct the Court of Appeals to review "points of law or fact which the moving party contends the court has overlooked or misapprehended." RAP 12.4(c). The rule does not authorize a party to introduce and argue theories and claims it has never previously presented. Nothing in any rule or authority cited by OneWest suggests that this Court should disregard appellate rules and allow OneWest to completely change the tactics it employed and issues it raised below.

At trial and on appeal OneWest cited and analyzed Idaho law in requesting that the validity of the purported Idaho order at issue be honored. See Appendix I; (CP 80-82). OneWest's current claim that the Court of Appeals should not have examined and analyzed Idaho law or the jurisdiction of the Idaho court is inconsistent with its previous position and should not be considered on appeal. RAP 9.12.

OneWest now claims Erickson should not be permitted to attack the validity of the purported order authorizing the reverse mortgage at issue because she and attorneys for her father, Bill McKee purportedly signed it. OneWest made no such argument in the trial court or on appeal and it should not be considered. RAP 9.12.

Further, the order on which OneWest relies in its Petition (but not in its appeal brief) was never authenticated and should not have been considered for any purpose. The only purported foundation for consideration of this order was provided by counsel for OneWest, who did

not purport to have firsthand knowledge of the purported order. Rather, he testified by affidavit that his client had been able to locate and fax to him a copy of "an executed Order Directing Conservator to Facilitate a Reverse Mortgage . . ." (CP 106). There is no indication where this faxed document originated and no one purported to authenticate it. The purported document appears to have been assembled from multiple faxed transmissions, appears to have been signed by an Idaho judge on different pages, contains no signatures that have been authenticated, does not show that it was ever entered, and does not show that it was ever circulated by the court clerk to anyone. (CP 108-112). Erickson argued at the trial court and on appeal that the order was not properly authenticated and should not be considered on summary judgment. (CP 179-181; Appellant's Brief, pp. 14-16; Respondent's Brief, pp. 4-7; Appellant's Reply, pp. 8-11). The Court of Appeals acknowledged that Erickson had raised this issue, but did not find it necessary to reach that issue. If it were relevant and necessary to decide the issue, all arguments made by OneWest that depend on the validity of that order should be rejected. Inadmissible evidence may not be considered in connection with competing requests for summary judgment. Sentinel C3, Inc. v. Hunt, 181 Wn.2d 128, 141, 331 P.3d 40 (2014) (decided after briefing was

completed in this case and included by Erickson in a Statement of Additional Authorities filed October 29, 2014).

OneWest also claimed that Erickson should not have been granted summary judgment because she never requested it. This claim is false. Erickson requested summary judgment at the trial court and on appeal. (CP 63, ; Appellant's Brief, p. 10, para.10; p. 12, para. 16; p. 13 and 25; Appellant's Reply pp. 6 and 232). OneWest treated Erickson's request for summary judgment as a cross-motion for summary judgment in the trial court. (CP 76, 86). The order for partial summary judgment that OneWest presented in the trial court evidenced that the trial court considered Erickson's request for summary judgment and denied it. (CP 114). At best, OneWest's argument in this regard was careless.

OneWest made a final suggestion that the trial court should have remanded the case to the trial court to consider the potential for granting equitable relief to OneWest on bases such as estoppels, waiver or equitable subrogation. The assertion is incorrect because both sides were seeking summary judgment and OneWest did not argue before the trial court or in the Court of Appeals that any such equitable issues existed or should be considered. These new claims should not be considered on appeal. RAP 9.12.

V. CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated above, Maureen Erickson requests that this Court deny OneWest's Petition for Discretionary Review of the Court of Appeals' decision and denial of OneWest's Request for Reconsideration.